IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

**FILED**

DEC 17 2014

TIMOTHY TOM, an individual,

Appellant,

v.

INNOVATIVE HOME SYSTEMS,  
LLC., a Nevada limited liability  
company,

Respondent.

Case No.: 65419  
66006

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN  
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT  
BY *S. Young*  
DEPUTY CLERK

District Court Case No. A680766

**APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Jennifer R. Lloyd, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 9617  
Marisa L. Maskas, Esq.  
Nevada Bar No. 10928  
PEZZILLO LLOYD  
6725 Via Austi Pkwy., Suite 290  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119  
Tel: 702 233-4225  
Fax: 702 233-4252  
*Attorneys for Appellant,  
Timothy Tom*

*Detached from Motion filed  
on 12-16-14 and filed separately

#### IV. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 4(e)(1) as the appeal arises from a final judgment entered on March 20, 2014 after the District Court entered its Order Granting Summary Judgment and Motion to Dismiss in favor of INNOVATIVE HOME SYSTEMS, LLC ("IHS"). TOM appealed this Order by filing a Notice of Appeal on April 8, 2014. The District entered its Order on Plaintiff's Motion for Award of Interest Cost and Attorneys' Fees on June 30, 2014, and TOM appealed this Order on July 1, 2014.

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting IHS' Motion for Summary Judgment because IHS' claims were barred as it was not a licensed contractor when it bid and performed the majority of the work on the Project at Issue.
2. Whether the Court erred in applying preclusive effect, and relying upon the actions of the Nevada State Contractor's Board investigator in granting IHS' Motion for Summary Judgment/Motion to Dismiss.
3. Whether the trial court erred in granting IHS' Motion for Summary Judgment when Tom submitted a NRCP 56(f) affidavit to the Court, giving rise to whether questions of fact existed regarding the work IHS agreed to be perform was actually performed and whether the work was performed in conformance with the contract.
4. Whether the trial court erred in granting IHS' Motion for Attorney's Fees for matters outside the pending litigation and without considering the *Brunzell* factors.

1  
2  
3  
4  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

**V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Tom appeals the summary judgment entered on behalf of Respondent IHS as the Court erred in finding that IHS was not required to possess a Nevada state contractor's license to perform the work contracted for and in reliance on an informal investigation of a Nevada State Contractors Board ("NSCB") employee where no administrative adjudication had taken place, based upon informal advisory opinions of the NSCB and prior to discovery commencing. The Court erroneously found that IHS' work was complete at a time that no discovery had taken place and when questions of fact existed as to whether IHS had fully and adequately performed the work it contracted to perform. The District Court likewise erred in dismissing the counterclaim asserted by Tom based upon IHS' failure to be properly licensed and arising from the incomplete and inadequate work of IHS.

**VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

**A. The Contract**

In April 2012, Tom and IHS entered into a contract (the "Contract") wherein IHS agreed to provide, install and program home automation, audio, visual and security equipment at Tom's residence, located at 1840 Claudine Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89156 (the "Project"). See JA<sup>1</sup> 00002, ¶4; JA 00064 (design and

---

<sup>1</sup> References cited as "JA" refer to the Stipulated Joint Appendix.

1 installation services); JA 00072 – 82, 00084 – 0087. The Contract contains line  
2 items for the purchase, installation and programing of equipment, including  
3 thermostats [JA 00072, 73], audio speakers [JA 73, 74], irrigation controls [JA  
4 00074], landscape lighting [JA 00074], an automated pool controller [JA 00074],  
5 surveillance equipment [JA 00074], and a home theater [JA 00074 – 75]. The  
6 original contract price was \$60,688.94. JA 00075.<sup>2</sup> According to the mechanic's  
7 lien recorded by IHS, IHS acknowledges that Tom paid a total of \$60,999.30. JA  
8 00588. At the time the contract was bid and entered into, IHS did not possess a  
9 Nevada State Contractor's license. JA 00045, 55. IHS misrepresented to Tom that  
10 it was properly licensed. JA00033. Tom believed IHS and relied upon its  
11 representation concerning licensure. *Id.* After bidding, contracting and completing  
12 much of the work on the Project, IHS subsequently obtained a Nevada contractor's  
13 license. JA 00045, fn. 2. After much of the work on the Project was complete and  
14 the majority of the contract was paid for, Tom discovered that some of the  
15 equipment installed by IHS was not functioning properly, and the programming  
16 was not complete. JA00620. IHS demanded payment in full even though the final  
17 payment was due only at completion. JA00119 - 133. After Tom refused to make  
18 the payment because the work was not complete, IHS refused to complete the work  
19 and recorded a lien.

20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28 <sup>2</sup> The contract price was subsequently altered due to changes in the scope of work;  
however, such fact is not relevant to the analysis herein.

1 **B. The Contractor's Board**

2 Due to the issues with IHS' incomplete work on the Project, its  
3 abandonment of the work and the discovery that IHS had not been properly  
4 licensed, Tom filed a Consumer Complaint with the NSCB on March 25, 2013.  
5 See JA 000140 - 000175. An investigative officer of the Board investigated the  
6 situation, and found that Tom's concerns had merit. JA 000731 - 000732. The  
7 Investigator found that there was work that had not been completed or was not  
8 completed in a workmanlike manner and issued a Notice to Correct the deficient  
9 work pursuant to NAC 624.700, that contained nine items. *Id.*

10  
11  
12  
13 Some of the issues were corrected by IHS, but issues with the work still  
14 remained and the dispute over IHS' scope of work, including programing. The  
15 equipment rack ventilation system was not functioning, and there was a constant  
16 beeping sound because of an "overheat" warning most of the time in the theater.  
17 JA 00312. The sprinkler system never functioned properly. *Id.* IHS failed to install  
18 the sidelite window switchable smart tint. *Id.* IHS failed to honor warranty  
19 coverage for the entire system and failed to fulfill dealer-required duties such as  
20 authorizing additional control devices. *Id.* Also, IHS never provided a wiring  
21 diagram for upstairs window pre-wiring. *Id.* The NSCB closed Tom's complaint,  
22 without making an express determination regarding whether or not IHS complied  
23 with all contractual obligations or ultimately whether or not IHS was required to be  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 licensed. The Board took no formal action on the issue of whether IHS needed a  
2 license to perform the work.

3 **C. District Court Proceedings**  
4

5 On April 25, 2013, IHS filed a Complaint against Tom for breach of contract  
6 and lien foreclosure, amongst other claims. JA 00004 - 00011. On June 20, 2013,  
7 Tom filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint or in the Alternative Motion for  
8 Summary Judgment against IHS [JA 00012 - 00041], which was opposed by IHS.  
9 JA 00042 - 00284. The trial court denied both Tom's Motion to Dismiss the  
10 Complaint and IHS' Countermotion for Summary Judgment on July 25, 2013. The  
11 Order denying the Motion and Countermotion was entered on September 10, 2013.  
12 JA00324 - 00328. Tom filed an Answer and Counterclaim to the Complaint of IHS  
13 on September 27, 2013. JA 00329 - 00337. IHS did not file a Reply to the  
14 Counterclaim asserted by Tom.  
15  
16  
17  
18

19 On October 22, 2013, IHS resubmitted its Motion for Summary Judgment,  
20 which included slight additions, along with a Motion to Dismiss Tom's  
21 Counterclaims. JA 00338 - 00662. Tom opposed these Motions. JA 00603 - 00628.  
22 IHS' Renewed Motion for Summary Judgment was granted. The Court's Findings  
23 of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered on March 20, 2014. JA 00647 -  
24 00659. A Notice of Appeal was filed on April 8, 2014. JA 00754 - 00756.  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 Subsequently, IHS filed a Motion for Attorney's Fees on March 19, 2014.  
2 JA 00660 - 00710. Tom opposed the Motion and submitted a Countermotion for  
3 Fees. JA 00711 - 00756. IHS' request for attorney's fees was granted on June 10,  
4 2014. Tom's request for a stay was also granted. The trial court signed IHS'  
5 proposed order, and the order was entered on June 30, 2014. JA 00776 - 00781. A  
6 Notice of Appeal of the attorneys' fees award was filed on July 1, 2014. JA 00782  
7 - 00784.  
8

## 10 VII. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

11 The trial court erred in granting IHS' summary judgment on its affirmative  
12 claims as IHS was required to be licensed as a contractor at the time it bid and  
13 performed the work contracted for with Tom as a matter of law. Likewise, the  
14 work contracted for was not completed, the work that was completed was not done  
15 properly, genuine issues of material fact were raised by Tom and discovery should  
16 have been allowed to be conducted, as requested by Tom pursuant to NRCP 56(f)  
17 on the renewed motion for summary judgment. JA00628. Further, the Court's  
18 reliance on the inaction of the NSCB for preclusive effects on the license to work  
19 issues has no basis in law. The Court erred in granting IHS' Motion to Dismiss for  
20 these same reasons. The trial court also erred in awarding attorneys' fees and costs  
21 to IHS as the Court failed to analyze the *Brunzell* factors and also included fees in  
22 the award for matters outside the pending litigation.  
23  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

## VIII. ARGUMENT

### A. Standards Of Review

The district court's grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). Summary judgment is appropriate when "the pleadings and other evidence on file demonstrate that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" *Id.* (citing NRCP 56(c)). When reviewing a motion for summary judgment all evidence must be considered in the "light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Id.* Motions to Dismiss are subject to rigorous appellate review and the court will accept all of Plaintiff's factual allegations as true. *Munda v. Summerlin Life and Health Ins. Co.*, 267 P.3d 771, 774 (Nev. 2011). The trial court's decision will be reviewed *de novo* and will not be upheld unless it appears beyond a doubt that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts that would entitle him/her to relief. *Id.*

### B. The Trial Court Erred In Granting IHS' Renewed Motion For Summary Judgment And Motion To Dismiss Tom's Counterclaims, As IHS Was Required to Be Licensed as a Contractor to Perform the Work in Question.

IHS was required to hold an applicable contractor's license pursuant to NRS 624.320 and NAC 624.200 to perform the contracted for work at the Tom residence; therefore, because IHS was not licensed at the time it bid, contracted for

1 and completed much of the work, IHS cannot pursue legal action against Tom for  
2 Breach of Contract or seek enforcement of its mechanic's lien. NRS 624.320  
3 states no contractor shall be able to maintain an action for compensation:  
4

5 ...without alleging and proving that such person, firm,  
6 copartnership, corporation, association or other  
7 organization, or any combination of any thereof, **was a**  
8 **duly licensed contractor at all times during the**  
9 **performance of such act or contract and when the job**  
10 **was bid.**

11 (Emphasis added). Further, NRS 108.222(2) states:

12 If a contractor or professional is required to be licensed  
13 pursuant to the provisions of NRS to perform the work, the  
14 contractor or professional will only have a lien pursuant to  
15 subsection 1 if the contractor or professional is licensed to  
16 perform the work.

17 IHS was not licensed when it bid the Project or when it performed the majority of  
18 its scope of work. IHS did not become a licensed contractor until September,  
19 2012. JA 000182. IHS submitted its bid to perform the work to Tom in April,  
20 2012. JA 00002, ¶4; JA 000064 – 00075. IHS then commenced and completed  
21 much of the work prior to obtaining a license. As such, IHS was not a duly  
22 licensed contractor at all times as required by NRS 624.320. The Court failed to  
23 engage in any fact finding regarding the issue of licensure as it granted judgment  
24 prior to discovery commencing and relied upon the lack of action by the NSCB  
25 and a hearsay statement of an NSCB investigator made outside of an adjudicatory  
26 process on the licensing issue. JA 000578; 000652, ¶13. As discussed below, the  
27  
28



1 Court erroneously treated this statement as a quasi-judicial action of the NSCB and  
2 applied preclusive effect to the investigator's correspondence closing Tom's  
3 consumer complaint and inferred that IHS was not required to be licensed by virtue  
4 of the fact that the NSCB did not expressly address the issue.  
5

6 The Nevada Administrative Code makes clear that the work performed by  
7  
8 IHS required a contractor's license. NAC 624.200 states:

9 The Board will grant to qualified applicants a license in the  
10 specialty of electrical contracting. The Board designates  
11 such a license as "classification C-2." A person who has a  
12 license designated classification C-2 may perform any  
13 work authorized for the subclassification of a license  
14 designated classification C-2.

15 The subclassifications of a license designated classification  
16 C-2 and the work authorized for persons licensed in the  
17 respective subclassifications are:

18 . . .

19 (d) LOW VOLTAGE SYSTEMS (subclassification C-2d):  
20 The installation, alteration and repair of systems that use  
21 fiber optics or do not exceed 91 volts, including telephone  
22 systems, sound systems, cable television systems, closed  
23 circuit video systems, satellite dish antennas,  
instrumentation and temperature controls, computer  
networking systems and landscape lighting.

24 This Court has stated that "[w]hen the text of a statute is plain and unambiguous,  
25 [we] should . . . not go beyond that meaning." *Star Ins. Co.*, 122 Nev. 773, 776,  
26 138 P.3d 507, 510 (2006). When interpreting multiple provisions, we must read the  
27 provisions in harmony, unless it is clear the Legislature intended otherwise. *City*  
28

1 *Council of Reno v. Reno Newspapers*, 105 Nev. 886, 892, 784 P.2d 974, 978  
2 (1989). These rules of statutory construction also apply to administrative  
3 regulations. *Silver State Elec. v. State, Dep't of Tax.*, 123 Nev. 80, 85, 157 P.3d  
4 710, 713 (2007).” *City of N. Las Vegas v. Warburton*, 262 P.3d 715, 718 (Nev.  
5 2011). As stated above, the contract was for the installation of thermostats, audio  
6 speakers, irrigation controls, landscape lighting, an automated pool controller,  
7 surveillance equipment, and a home theater. See JA 00072 - 00075. This is  
8 precisely the type of work that NAC 624.700 states that a contractor must be  
9 licensed to perform.  
10  
11

12  
13 IHS argued to the district court that the nature of its work did not require it  
14 to hold a contractor’s license; however, IHS’ own arguments were contradictory on  
15 this issue. First, IHS argued that “the components of the automation systems that  
16 IHS sold and installed into the Project are standalone electronics products that plug  
17 into existing electrical outlets and existing wiring.” See JA00341, Ins. 10 - 12.  
18 IHS’ Motion immediately contradicts itself by then stating, “On occasion,  
19 however, some incidental patching and painting of drywall, stucco or other  
20 penetrations are usually necessary. Incidental patching and painting have never  
21 required a contractor’s license to perform...” *Id.* at Ins. 20 – 22. IHS thus admitted  
22 that it did more than simply plug components into outlets and program them. IHS  
23 performed wiring, which is why patching was needed to cover the holes made by  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 IHS as part of its scope of work. In a letter to the NSCB, IHS' attorney  
2 acknowledged that a license might be required but that IHS' subsequent licensure  
3 should rectify any problems. JA 000182. It was likewise argued that any such  
4 violation merely violated the letter of the law, but not its spirit. *Id.* Such an  
5 argument is unpersuasive when no opportunity to present the facts and  
6 circumstances of what work was performed was ever afforded to Tom. This  
7 argument is not in accordance with Nevada law. *See* NRS 108.222(2) (unlicensed  
8 contractor not permitted to record mechanic's lien); *see also* NRS 108.2453 (party  
9 may not waive a right *or* obligation required pursuant to NRS 108.221 – 108.246).

13 “The primary purpose of Nevada’s licensing statutes is to protect the public  
14 against both faulty construction and financial irresponsibility.” *Interstate*  
15 *Commercial Bldg. Servs., Inc. v. Bank of Am. Nat. Trust & Sav. Ass'n*, 23 F. Supp.  
16 2d 1166, 1173 (D. Nev. 1998) (citing *MGM Grand Hotel v. Imperial Glass Co.*,  
17 533 F.2d 486, 489 (9th Cir.1976). Here, it is undisputed that at the time IHS  
18 submitted a bid to Tom, IHS was not licensed. IHS performed much of the work  
19 before it became licensed. The Project was to be completed before IHS obtained  
20 its license. IHS was not complying with the spirit or the letter of the law. IHS’  
21 actions bar it from seeking to collect compensation for the performance on any  
22 contract for which a license is required.

1 If a contractor, like IHS, that allegedly complies with the spirit of the law  
2 but not the actual requirements of the law is allowed to pursue claims for payment  
3 against an a homeowner that believes it is properly licensed, the purpose of the  
4 law, which is to protect the members of the public, like Tom, would be vitiated.  
5 The requirement for licensing would be without real meaning and of no effect and  
6 would nullify Nevada statutory provisions requiring licensure. *See Mangarella v.*  
7 *State*, 117 Nev. 130, 133, 17 P.3d 989, 991 (2001) (Statutes must not be read in  
8 way to render words, or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory).  
9

10  
11  
12 After having its initial motion for summary judgment denied, IHS  
13 subsequently submitted a second motion for summary judgment prior to discovery  
14 commencing and based upon the same facts but which added administrative  
15 advisory opinions issued by the NSCB from other, unrelated matters in an attempt  
16 to demonstrate that its scope of work did not require a proper license. JA 000596 -  
17 000598. As stated on the face of the advisory opinions, such opinions are limited  
18 to the specific facts and circumstances of the question for which the opinion is  
19 sought. The District Court nevertheless improperly relied upon these advisory  
20 opinions in determining that IHS was not required to be licensed. JA 000654, ¶5.  
21 Unlike the policy of judicial courts, administrative bodies can give advisory  
22 opinions. *See NRS 624.160(3)*. Again, however, the NSCB limits the applicability  
23 of any given opinion through an express disclaimer: ***"Please Note: Advisory***  
24  
25  
26  
27  
28

1 *Opinions apply only to the specific facts and circumstances of a particular*  
2 *project.”* JA 000596 - 98. It was therefore clear error for the District Court to rely  
3 on an opinion issued in an unrelated matter for purposes of granting IHS' Motion  
4 for Summary Judgment and Motion to Dismiss. If IHS had wished to receive an  
5 advisory opinion it could have sought one pursuant to NRS 624.160(3); however, it  
6 did not do so.  
7

9 **C. The District Court Erred in Giving Preclusive Effect to the Nevada**  
10 **State Contractors Board's Inaction.**

11 The District Court erred in finding that the NSCB had determined that IHS  
12 was not required to hold a valid Nevada State Contractor's license at the time it  
13 entered into its agreement with Tom and throughout the duration of the Project. JA  
14 00654. First, the NSCB did not make any "findings" as no adjudicatory or quasi-  
15 judicial process took place before the NSCB. Second, even in the event that the  
16 informal investigation efforts of an NSCB investigator could be considered an  
17 adjudicative or quasi-judicial proceeding, the stringent requirements of claim  
18 preclusion and/or issue preclusion were not met and therefore cannot serve to  
19 preclude Tom's right to be heard on the merits of his claim.  
20  
21  
22  
23

24 **1. The Doctrine of Claim Preclusion Does not Apply to Prevent Tom**  
25 **from Litigating that IHS was not Properly Licensed.**

26 This Court has established a three-part test for determining whether a prior  
27 proceeding may result in claim preclusion being applied to bar a subsequent action,  
28

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