#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TIMOTHY TOM, an individual,

Appellant,

VS.

INNOVATIVE HOME SYSTEMS LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Consolidated Case Nos.: 65419 &

66006

Electronically Filed

District Court Casa N 2.7 200 5 600:27 a.m.

Trácié K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

# APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Adriana Escobar, District Judge

### RESPONDENT'S RESPONDING BRIEF

LEON F. MEAD II Nevada Bar No. 5719 SNELL & WILMER L.L.P. 3883 Howard Hughes Parkway Suite 1100 Las Vegas, NV 89169

Telephone: (702) 784-5200 Facsimile: (702) 784-5252

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

While TOM waxes eloquent about legal issues regarding the NSCB, TOM completely overlooks the fact that it failed to meet its obligation to provide admissible evidence sufficient to demonstrate a genuine issue of material fact that the Court should have sent to trial.

A. Once IHS Asserted and Supported that it was Exempt from Licensure, TOM had the Obligation to Present Contrary Facts Demonstrating a Genuine Issue of Fact Existed.

NRS 624.320 provides in pertinent part:

No ... organization ... engaged in the business or acting in the capacity of a contractor shall bring or maintain any action in the courts of this State for the collection of compensation for the performance of any act or contract for which a license is required by this chapter without alleging and proving that such ... organization... was a duly licensed contractor at all times during the performance of such act or contract and when the job was bid.

(Emphasis added).

NRS 108.222(2) provides:

If a contractor or professional is required to be licensed pursuant to the provisions of NRS to perform the work, the contractor or professional will only have a lien pursuant to subsection 1 if the contractor or professional is licensed to perform the work.

(Emphasis added).

NRS 624.031(6) provides:

The provisions of this chapter do not apply to: ... (6) The sale or *installation of any finished product*, material or

article of merchandise which is not fabricated into and does not become a permanent fixed part of the structure. (Emphasis added).

NRS 47.250(16) provides that there is a disputable presumption that the law has been obeyed. As shown above, NRS 624.031(6) exempts from the requirement of a contractor's license the sale and installation of finished products which are not fabricated into or become a permanent fixed part of a structure. IHS has submitted the only evidence of the nature of the work performed by it. JA00365-66, ¶s 2 & 3. As such, IHS enjoys a rebuttable presumption that it followed the law in performing this work. "A presumption ... imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of proving the nonexistence of the presumed fact is more probable than its existence." NRS 47.180(1). TOM has not submitted any evidence at all to dispute these facts, and so the conformance of the materials with the exemption must be considered established fact. NRS 47.190

Instead of providing the district court with evidence, TOM spends a great deal of time arguing that the court was obligated to engage in fact finding on whether a license was necessary for IHS to perform its work, yet provided no facts whatsoever to the district court (or to this Court) to demonstrate a factual dispute existed. To the contrary, once IHS provided sufficient facts to support its contention that it was *exempt* from the requirements of a license, it was TOM's burden to present facts that IHS was required to have such a license. To hold

otherwise, would require IHS (or any material supplier, equipment renter or other "lien claimant" for that matter) to prove a negative (that a license is *not* required), rather than the positive (that a license *is* required). Yet IHS did support its exempt status substantially.

IHS presented admissible evidence (which TOM did not dispute):

- That its materials met the definition of NRS 624.031(6)'s license exemption (JA00365-372, ¶s 2, 3, 7, 15, 16 & 17);
- That TOM hired licensed contractors to perform work on his project that IHS refused to perform because the work required a contractor's license (JA00365-372, ¶ 4-6);
- That references in the Contract between them did not show that IHS performed work requiring a license, but merely referenced such work that was being performed by TOM's separate licensed contractor (Meridian) merely as an accommodation to TOM (JA00365-372, ¶ 9);
- At no time did IHS assert that it held a contractor's license and TOM never complained that IHS was unlicensed until he refused to pay IHS and retained counsel (JA00365-372, ¶s 10 & 13);
- TOM filed a complaint with the NSCB claiming IHS was unlicensed when it entered into the Contract with TOM, but the NSCB ignored the issue when it was under a specific legal duty to prevent IHS from continuing to perform

the contract work if a license had been required (JA00365-372, ¶ 15 and Exhibits 13-15 thereto (JA00442-573));

- That the NSCB has never demanded that IHS have a contractor's license to perform the type of work IHS performed for TOM (JA00371, ¶ 16), and
- That the NSCB has issued advisory opinions on work similar to that performed by IHS for TOM where it determined a license was not necessary (JA00596-598).

To all of this, TOM offered no evidence whatsoever. Only now for the first time<sup>13</sup> TOM points only to a single exhibit to the original motion for summary judgment that was denied (*See* Opening Brief, pg. 9, ll. 7-9 and JA00072-75), and a single sentence in IHS' evidence that incidental patching and painting have never been work that required a contractor's license (*See* Opening Brief, pg. 9, ll. 20-25), to *imply* the unsupported assertion that "IHS performed wiring, which is why patching was needed to cover the holes made by IHS as part of its scope of work." This is not evidence, and certainly not evidence that rises to the level of "specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine factual issue" to overcome the presumption that IHS complied with the law. Rather, it seems to be a textbook example of "relying on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> This Court has consistently held that arguments made only for the first time on appeal will not be considered.

conjecture"<sup>14</sup> that this Court forbids be used to overcome a summary judgment motion. Having offered no facts to dispute IHS substantial evidence that it is exempt from licensure, there is no basis for TOM's claim that genuine issues of material fact exist to justify a trial in this matter on the issue of licensing. Even if the district court had jurisdiction over this issue, its decision is justified and should be upheld.

B. The NSCB is the Exclusive Arbiter of What Work Requires a Contractor's License under Nevada Law and this Court should Not Question is Decision in this Case.

Notwithstanding the fact that there is no genuine issue of material fact to support TOM's claim, the district court was correct that the NSCB's position is controlling in this case and should not be overturned as a matter of law. It is simply not a function of the courts to substitute their judgment for an Administrative agency charged with handling a specific function. As this Court has stated:

This court, like the district court, gives considerable deference to the [administrative agency's] rulings. [citations] Unless the board should act arbitrarily, unreasonably or capriciously beyond administrative boundaries the court must give credence to the findings of the board. An agency charged with the duty of administering an act is impliedly clothed with power to construe it as a necessary precedent to administrative action."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Wood, supra, 121 Nev. at 731; 121 P.3d at 1030-31.

City of North Las Vegas v. State of Nevada, 127 Nev.Adv.Op. 57, 261 P.3d 1071, 1074 (2012) (emphasis added).

As the facts demonstrate, TOM complained to the NSCB about the lack of a license (JA00442-498) and IHS explained its position to the NSCB in detail (JA00500-572). Rather, after reviewing the work performed by IHS, the NSCB found that complaint about a lack of a license at bidding to be meritless and dismissed it. JA00574-576. The NSCB was provided the same information that this Court has before it, yet as the Administrative Agency charged with interpreting NRS Chapter 624 and with drafting the Nevada Administrative Code Chapter 624 (See NRS 233B.040(1) and NRS 624.100), made no finding that a contractor's license was necessary to bid on or enter into the Contract. This is a function solely within the purview of the NSCB. NRS 624.112. In fact, if a contractor's license would have been necessary for IHS to enter into the Contract as TOM asserts, the NSCB Executive Director was required to issue an order to IHS to cease work. As NRS 624.212(1) provides:

The Executive Officer, on behalf of the Board, *shall* issue an order *to cease and desist* to any person:

- (a) Acting as a contractor, including, without limitation, commencing work as a contractor; or
- (B) Submitting a bid on a job situated in this State,
- → without an active license of the proper classification issued pursuant to this chapter.

(Emphasis added.)

The literal interpretation of this duty would have required the NSCB investigator to stop IHS from performing *any* work on DR. TOM's Property, if DR. TOM's complaint about no license at the time of contracting held any merit. They did not. In fact, the NSCB investigator ordered IHS to *complete* its work (which IHS did) and then the NSCB closed its file, deeming the matter completely resolved. JA00578.

TOM attacks the district court for reviewing the NSCB advisory opinions. Yet the NSCB's advisory opinions are in accord with other jurisdictions dealing with this same issue and provide insight into the NSCB's license considerations. In *Walker v Thornsberry*, 158 Cal. Rptr. 862 (Cal.Ct.App. 1979), a manufacturer of pre-fabricated restrooms, designed and furnished "prefabricated pieces consisting of steel columns, beams, girders, steel connections, metal siding and roof, all precut to size. [It's] employees assembled the component parts and attached the completed unit to the concrete foundation by means of bolts through a metal channel along the base of the wall." *Id.*, at 862. The Court held that California Business & Professions Code § 7031 (California's equivalent to NRS 624.320) did *not* apply to "construction activity that is merely incidental, such as the installation of kitchen appliances." *Walker, supra*, 158 Cal.Rptr. at 847, quoting *E.A. Davis* &

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For this Court to undertake the responsibility to question whether or not a contractor's license was needed in this case, after the NSCB was specifically confronted with the issue, would be opening the door to a very slippery slope.

Co. v. Richards, 120 Cal.App.2d 237, 260 P.2d 805 (Cal.Ct.App 1953). While TOM correctly points out that the advisory opinions are limited to their facts, IHS was under no obligation to obtain a specific advisory opinion from the NSCB that it was not required to have a contractor's license to perform its work, as TOM asserts is possible under NRS 624.160(3). To the contrary, TOM (being the party disputing IHS' claim of exemption) had every ability himself to seek its own advisory ruling from the NSCB on the issue, but did not chose to do so.

The evidence before the district court, which TOM does not dispute on appeal, was that the components sold and installed by IHS under the Contract are standalone components that are placed and plugged into existing electrical outlets in the TOM property. JA00365-372, ¶s 2 & 3. For the most part, the connections these components are actually wireless. To the extent any actual wired connections were required, such connections were made by connecting the equipment to existing cabling infrastructure or cabling installed by other licensed contractors hired by TOM. JA00365-372, ¶ 4-6. In fact, this work did not even require a building permit. For example, Section 22.02.200 of the 2010 Clark County Building Code (JA00590-592) states:

An electrical permit shall not be required for the work as listed in the following:...

- (E) Repair or replacement of current-carrying parts of any switch, contactor or control device,
- (F) Replacement of attached plug receptacles, but not the outlet box.

- (G) Repair or replacement of any over current device of the required capacity in the same location.
- ... ND Do
- (N) Power-limited wiring of 50 volts or less in or associated with single family dwellings.
- (O) Exposed surface-mounted power limited wiring.
- (P) Replacement of lighting fixtures in single family residences...
- (Q) Installing low voltage devices and data links. (Emphasis added.)

As the above referenced undisputed facts demonstrate, the materials IHS sold and installed IHS are standalone finished products, that are merely set or bolted into place, connected wirelessly or into previously installed and existing electrical wires or new wiring installed by other licensed professionals under separate direct contracts between TOM and his other contractors. IHS was in no way responsible for that other work, nor was it included in the Contract. TOM failed to dispute any of these offered facts. As such, the district court determined IHS did not need a contractors' license to perform the work under the Contract for which it seeks payment. TOM offered no evidence to contradict these facts at the district court level, and cannot do so here. IHS was entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law, and this Court should not reverse that ruling by the district court.

Likewise, the district court had no reason to dispute or call into question the NSCB's determination. This is not an issue of issue preclusion, but of deference to the administrative agency with jurisdiction over the issue of licensure. If TOM

disputed the NSCB's decision not to validate TOM's complaint that IHS did not have a license, TOM should have challenged that decision with the NSCB, under the Administrative Procedures Act (NRS Chapter 233B). Regardless, having placed the matter of necessarily licensure before the NSCB, TOM is not in a position to challenge the issue again before the district court, especially without having first provided the district court with admissible evidence of a material factual dispute that called the NSCB's decision not to hold IHS to having a license into question. This Court should not disturb the district court's entering of summary judgment.

C. The District Court's Denial of a Continuance for Discovery under NRCP Rule 56(f) Should Not Be Reversed Because TOM Failed to Demonstrate Such Discovery Would Likely Produce Evidence Leading to Creation of Genuine Issues of Material Fact.

The mere fact that TOM's counsel submitted a conclusory affidavit in support of a request under NRCP Rule 56(f) is not the end of the discussion on whether or not the district court abused its discretion in denying the request, such that summary judgment should be reversed. Rather, the affidavit must demonstrate that the requesting party was unable to marshal facts in support of its opposition, and affirmatively express how further discovery will lead to the creation of a genuine issue of material fact. *Aviation Ventures Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 113, 117-18, 110 P.3d 59, 62 (2005).

It should first be noted that TOM submitted a "declaration" of his counsel, George E. Robinson, Esq., in support of the request for additional discovery.

Again, the declaration is merely 1 page long (JA00626) and like's TOM's affidavit contains nothing more that the bald assertion that discovery should be allowed:

- 4. Timothy Tom should be afforded an opportunity to conduct discovery pursuant to NRCP 56(f), with regard to the allegations raised in IHS' Motion ..., as neither party has had an opportunity to conduct needed discovery.
- 5. As an example of the discovery needed, discovery should be allowed on the investigations of the NSCB and the NSCB as to the licensing requirements of IHS.
- 6. Expert witnesses must also be retained as to the licensing requirements for the work performed.

(See JA00626). There is no attempt to dispute the fact that the materials supplied by IHS meet the exception of NRS 624.031(6). There is no statement as to why TOM could not marshal any facts at all to support his position that a license was required. The uncontradicted facts are that TOM hired separate licensed contractors to perform work that required a license, because IHS refused to perform such work. TOM does not deny that at all. TOM does not provide the district court with *any* substantive facts or basis why it could not provide any evidence at all, nor what it expects the discovery to reveal. The declaration merely says TOM wants discovery, not what discovery he specifically wants to undertake or what he believes that discovery will reveal. This is simply not sufficient to allow

this Court to find the district court abused its discretion in denying TOM's NRCP Rule 56(f) request for discovery.

D. TOM's Affidavit in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment Raised No Admissible Evidence of a Genuine Issue of Material Fact.

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